
July 21, 2009 
 
 

EA-09-114 
 
Richard D. Olson, P.E.  
Vice President 
Earth Exploration, Inc. 
7770 W. New York Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46214-2988 
 
SUBJECT: OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS / INVESTIGATION REPORT NO. 3-2008-026  

EARTH EXPLORATION, INC. 
 
Dear Mr. Olson: 
 
On July 21, 2008, the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) conducted an inspection with 
continued in-office review through August 26, 2008, at Earth Exploration, Inc., Indianapolis, 
Indiana.  Another inspection was conducted on August 14 and 15, 2008, at your South Bend, 
Indiana office.  The inspections included a review of your licensed activities at temporary job 
sites in Indianapolis and South Bend during the respective inspection dates.  Our in-office 
review consisted of a review of your proposed corrective actions of the inspection findings.  On  
August 15, 2008, you sent the NRC a Statement of Commitment (SOC) addressing the 
concerns the NRC had regarding the implementation of your radiation safety program.  Our 
inspection findings were previously described in NRC Inspection Report No. 030/32764/2008-
01(DNMS).   Resulting from the inspection findings and your SOC letter, the NRC issued a 
Commitment Acknowledgement Letter (CAL) on September 4, 2008.  The NRC conducted 
inspections on January 13, 2009, at your South Bend, Indiana facility, and on January 30, 2009, 
at your Indianapolis, Indiana facility and at a temporary job site in Morristown, Indiana in order to 
review the corrective actions summarized in your SOC and the NRC’s CAL. 
 
In addition to the inspections, the NRC Office of Investigations (OI) conducted an investigation 
into the actions surrounding your compliance with NRC regulatory requirements.  A factual 
summary of the OI report is enclosed.   
 
Based on the results of this inspection and the OI investigation, seven apparent violations were 
identified and are being considered for escalated enforcement action in accordance with the 
NRC Enforcement Policy that is included on the NRC=s Web site at 
www.nrc.gov/about-nrc/regulatory/enforcement/enforce-pol.html.  Five of these apparent 
violations involve deliberate failure to:  (1) perform annual reviews of the radiation protection 
program [10 CFR 20.1101(c)]; (2) perform leak testing of sealed sources [License Condition 13]; 
(3) perform physical inventories every 6 months of sealed sources [License Condition 16]; (4) 
ensure that dosimetry provided to gauge users was processed and evaluated by a processor 
approved by through the National Voluntary Laboratory Accreditation Program [License 
Condition 21]; and (5) ensure through the Radiation Safety Officer that required tests and 
conditions of the NRC license are performed [License Condition 21].  
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The sixth apparent violation included multiple examples of failure to secure portable gauges 
using two independent physical barriers as required by 10 CFR 30.34(i).  The final apparent 
violation involved the failure to lock a gauge or gauge case when in storage as required by 
License Condition 19. 
 
Five potential violations involving transportation issues were also identified.  These potential 
violations include failures to:  (1) ensure proper/legible markings on packages [49 CFR 
178.3(a)]; (2) label transport packages [49 CFR 172.403(b)]; (3) block and brace two packages 
[49 CFR 177.842(b)]; (4) ensure the accessibly of shipping papers [49 CFR 177.817(e)]; and  
(5) provide an emergency response telephone number which is monitored at all times when 
radioactive material is in transportation [49 CFR 172.604(a)(1)].  The circumstances surrounding 
these apparent and potential violations, the significance of the issues and the need for lasting 
and effective corrective actions were discussed with Dr. Scott Ludlow, President, Earth 
Explorations, Inc., during a telephone conversation on August 26, 2008. 
 
Before the NRC makes its enforcement decision, we are providing you an opportunity to:  
(1) attend a Predecisional Enforcement Conference (PEC), or (2) request Alternative Dispute 
Resolution (ADR) to resolve the issue.  Please contact Tamara Bloomer of my staff at  
630-829-9627 within seven days of the date of this letter to notify the NRC of your intended 
response.   
 
If you decide to attend a PEC, it would be closed to public observation and transcribed.  The 
decision to hold a PEC does not mean that the NRC has determined that a violation has 
occurred or that enforcement action will be taken.  This conference would be held to obtain 
information to assist the NRC in making an enforcement decision.  This may include information 
to determine whether a violation occurred, information to determine the significance of a 
violation, information related to the identification of a violation, and information related to any 
corrective actions taken or planned.  The conference will provide you an opportunity to present 
your perspective on these matters and any other information that you believe the NRC should 
take into consideration in making an enforcement decision.  In presenting your corrective 
actions, you should be aware that the promptness and comprehensiveness of your actions will 
be considered in assessing any civil penalty for the apparent violations.  The guidance in the 
enclosed excerpt from NRC Information Notice 96-28, “Suggested Guidance Relating to 
Development and Implementation of Corrective Action,” may be helpful.   
 
In lieu of a PEC, you may request ADR with the NRC in an attempt to resolve this issue.  
Alternate Dispute Resolution is a general term encompassing various techniques for resolving 
conflicts using a neutral third party.  The technique that the NRC has decided to employ is 
mediation.  Mediation is a voluntary, informal process in which a trained neutral third party  
participant (the “mediator”) works with parties to help them reach resolution.  If the parties agree 
to use ADR, they select a mutually agreeable neutral mediator who has no stake in the outcome 
and no power to make decisions.  Mediation gives parties an opportunity to discuss issues, 
clear up misunderstandings, find areas of agreement, and reach a final resolution to the issues.  
Additional information concerning the NRC's program can be obtained at 
http://www.nrc.gov/about-nrc/regulatory/enforcement/adr.html.  The Institute on Conflict 
Resolution (ICR) at Cornell University has agreed to facilitate the NRC’s program as a neutral 
third party.  Please contact ICR at 877-733-9415 within seven days of the date of this letter if 
you are interested in pursuing resolution of this issue through ADR. 
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Since the NRC has not made a final determination in this matter, a Notice of Violation is not 
being issued for these inspection findings at this time.  In addition, please be advised that the 
number and characterization of the apparent and potential violations described in this letter may 
change as a result of further NRC review.  You will be advised by separate correspondence of 
the results of our deliberations on this matter.  
 
In accordance with 10 CFR 2.390 of the NRC’s “Rules of Practice,” a copy of this letter will be 
available electronically for public inspection in the NRC Public Document Room or from the 
NRC’s Agencywide Documents Access and Management System (ADAMS), accessible from 
the NRC Web site at http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html. 
 
      Sincerely, 
 
      /RA By P. Louden, Acting for/ 
 
 

Steven A. Reynolds, Director 
Division of Nuclear Materials Safety 

 
Docket No. 030-32764 
License No. 13-26408-01 
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Enclosure 1 

FACTUAL SUMMARY OF OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS REPORT 3-2008-026 

On August 11, 2008, the U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission’s (NRC) Office of Investigations 
(OI), Region III (RIII) Field Office, initiated an investigation to determine whether an individual 
employed by Earth Exploration, Inc. (EEI) deliberately failed to meet Radiation Safety Program 
(RSP) requirements.  In addition, OI was requested to assist staff in obtaining additional and 
clarifying information into the licensee’s use of a minimum of two independent physical controls 
that form tangible barriers to secure portable gauges. 
 
The OI report revealed that the individual acknowledged that, in his duties, he was responsible 
for carrying out the following requirements:  (1) perform annual reviews of the radiation 
protection program as required by 10 CFR 20.1101(c); (2) perform leak testing of sealed 
sources as required by License Condition 13; (3) perform physical inventories every 6 months of 
sealed sources as required by License Condition 16; (4) ensure that dosimetry provided to 
gauge users was processed and evaluated by an accredited National Voluntary Laboratory 
Accreditation Program (NVLAP) processor as required by License Condition 21; and (5) perform 
duties and responsibilities as required by License Condition 21.  The individual also 
acknowledged that he failed to perform these duties since approximately 2005 due to 
extenuating circumstances.  The individual’s supervisor testified that he was aware of the 
extenuating circumstances but did not realize that the duties were not being accomplished. 
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